
 

 

   

  

  

 

  

  

 

  

 

    

 

   

   

   

   

 

 

     

    

    

  

 

CATS + TORFP J04B9400001 

MVA System Maintenance and Support 

Amendment #1 Issued: January 23, 2019 

Addendum #1 is being issued for Answers to Questions submitted by Firms for the above named 

TORFP.  All information contained herein is binding on all offerors who respond to this TORFP. 

Question 1: Are these positions new or is there an incumbent vendor providing the services? 

ANSWER 1: The incumbent is DK Consulting. 

Question 2: For the MBE requirement, will certification in Howard county suffice? Or must it 

be through the state? 

ANSWER 2: The firm must be MBE certified with the State of Maryland. 

Question 3: Who is the incumbent contract vendor(s) which are currently performing the work 

mentioned in the TORFP? Would you be able to share whether these vendor contracts are 

publically available? 

ANSWER 3: The incumbent is DK Consulting.  The award information is available at: 

https://doit.maryland.gov/contracts/Pages/ContractLibraryCATSPlus.aspx 

Question 4: For the VSBE goal, do we have to use a veteran company from Maryland to meet 

this goal or can we use a veteran company from a different State? 

ANSWER 4: The firm does not have to be from Maryland, however they must be 

registered with VetBiz at https://uscontractorregistration.com/veteran-owned-vetbiz-

registration/?gclid=Cj0KCQiA7IDiBRCLARIsABIPohjUA0NhaWBfSvjOZ1H-

jbq7nkai8OYSVTbs7_ymtvhldC2PPBq4zcIaAkjPEALw_wcB 

https://doit.maryland.gov/contracts/Pages/ContractLibraryCATSPlus.aspx
https://uscontractorregistration.com/veteran-owned-vetbiz-registration/?gclid=Cj0KCQiA7IDiBRCLARIsABIPohjUA0NhaWBfSvjOZ1H-jbq7nkai8OYSVTbs7_ymtvhldC2PPBq4zcIaAkjPEALw_wcB
https://uscontractorregistration.com/veteran-owned-vetbiz-registration/?gclid=Cj0KCQiA7IDiBRCLARIsABIPohjUA0NhaWBfSvjOZ1H-jbq7nkai8OYSVTbs7_ymtvhldC2PPBq4zcIaAkjPEALw_wcB
https://uscontractorregistration.com/veteran-owned-vetbiz-registration/?gclid=Cj0KCQiA7IDiBRCLARIsABIPohjUA0NhaWBfSvjOZ1H-jbq7nkai8OYSVTbs7_ymtvhldC2PPBq4zcIaAkjPEALw_wcB


 

  

 
 

  

  

 

  

 
 

  

 

 

 
 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Question 5: Do all insurance requirements (including cyber security/Data Breach) need to be 

met at the time of submitting RFP or at the beginning of the Task Order? 

ANSWER 5: This requirement must be satisfied within five (5) business days from 

recommendation of award. 

Question 6: Is the Security/Criminal Background check for the key personnel required at the 

time of RFP Submission? 

ANSWER 6: This requirement must be completed prior to the start of the task order. 

Question 7: Is this a Re-bid, if yes, can you share the current incumbent name and contract 

value? 

ANSWER 7: Yes.  The incumbent is DK Consulting.  The contract value is $6,650,384. 

Date Issued: January 23, 2019 

By: Abby Alam, Procurement Officer 































 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 
 

 

CATS + TORFP J04B9400001 

 MVA System Maintenance and Support 

Amendment #4 Issued: February 5, 2019 

THIS AMENDMENT IS BEING ISSUED TO UPDATE AND 

CLARIFY CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE 

ABOVE-REFERENCED TORFP.  ALL INFORMATION 

CONTAINED HEREIN IS BINDING ON ALL WHO 

RESPOND TO THIS TORFP. 

For the following changes/additions, any new language has been underlined and marked in bold 
(i.e. new) and any deleted language has been marked with a strikeout (i.e., deleted). 

SECTION I 

1. Delete in its entirety Appendix 6A Labor Classification Personnel Resume Summary for 
CATS+ TORFP #J04B9400001, issued with the solicitation; replace with revised - 
Attachment 6A Labor Classification Personnel Resume Summary for CATS+ 
TORFP #J04B9400001, issued with Amendment #4. (See attached Revised – 
Attachment 6A Labor Classification Personnel Resume Summary.) 

2. Section 3.8.2 Offeror Preferred Experience Delete “The following preferred experience is 
expected and will be evaluated as part of the TO Technical Proposal (see the Offeror 
experience, capability and references evaluation factor from Section 6.2):” in paragraph 
2; replace with “The following preferred experience is expected and will be 
evaluated as part of the TO Technical Proposal (see the Offeror experience, 
capability and references evaluation factor from Section 6.2.3):” 

3. Section 3.8.3 Personnel Preferred Experience Delete “The following preferred experience 
is expected and will be evaluated as part of the TO Technical Proposal (see the capability 
of proposed resources evaluation factor from Section 6.2):”; replace with “The 
following preferred experience is expected and will be evaluated as part of the TO 
Technical Proposal (see the capability of proposed resources evaluation factor from 
Section 6.2.2):” 



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Section 6.2.1 Delete “Offeror’s Technical Response to TORFP Requirements (See 
TORFP § 5.4.2)”; replace with “Offeror’s Technical Response to TORFP 
Requirements (See TORFP § 5.4.2.F)” 

5. The TO Proposal due date has been amended to Monday, February 25, 2019 at 2:00 
pm (EST). 

SEE ATTACHED:  

Questions and Answers 



 

                                                

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

SECTION II 

Question 1: What NAIC codes are attached to this solicitation?  Where do you check for this 
information on any solicitation?  Do the Master Contractors, subs and MBE firms need to be 
certified on the NAIC codes if the contract calls for it. 

ANSWER 1: The NAICS Codes utilized for this procurement are: 541511, 541512, 541519 
and 541513.  The MBE subcontractors must be certified with any of these codes in order to 
count towards fulfilling the MBE goal. 

Question 2: In the "MBE/VSBE Sub-Contracting Goals", how can a prime-company give 
these percentages of '8%, 7%, 2%, and 1% to sub-contractors in this mainly resource placement 
project? In other words, we are placing the required personnel on this project, hence it almost 
impossible to give these percentages as sub-contracts. What kinds of arrangements have worked 
in the past in similar TORFPs? 

ANSWER 2: Possible Solution:  The prime can subcontract with an African American 
firm subcontractor, a Hispanic firm subcontractor, a woman owned firm subcontractor, 
and a VSBE firm subcontractor to provide resources with the supplying MBE firms 
serving to meet the subgoal requirements. 

Question 3: In Section '3.6 Insurance Requirements', under '3.6.1' it is stated that: 
".......Pursuant to Section 27 (C) of the CATS+ Master Contract, the limitations of liability per 
claim under this TORFP shall not exceed the total TOA amount". What is this 'TOA amount'? 
The TOA amount of the contract years or all options years also included? 

ANSWER 3: We cannot disclose the budget amount, however, the TOA amount would be 
for all five (5) years. 



  

 

    

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question 4: In Section '3.6.4 Cyber Security/Data Breach Insurance. In addition to the 
insurance specified in the CATS+ RFP Section 2.7, TO Contractor shall maintain Cyber Security 
/ Data Breach Insurance for ten million dollars ($10,000,000) per occurrence. The coverage must 
be valid at all locations where work is performed or data or other information concerning State 
residents and employees is processed or stored'. 
- Is this new insurance requirement included/enacted in COMAR? 
- Isn't the "Ten Millions ($10,000,000.00) insurance coverage per occurrence directly contradicts 
with the liability limitations mentioned in 'b)' above? 
- What methods are you going to apply to determine the actual cause of the 'Cyber Security / 
Data Breach' incidents in 100% certainty? 

ANSWER 4: This requirement is not included in COMAR.  It is a MDOT and DoIT 
requirement.  Cyber Security / Data Breach Insurance is in addition to the insurance 
specified in the CATS+ RFP Section 2.7.  It is included when appropriate to the work being 
performed.  A thorough investigation will be conducted to determine the cause of the 
breach. 

Question 5: Will you extend the due date since Monday, February 18th is a federal holiday? 

ANSWER 5: See Section I of Amendment #4. 

Question 6: Will you eliminate the cybersecurity insurance requirement? 

ANSWER 6: No, the Cyber Security insurance will not be eliminated. 

Question 7: Which equipment will the state provide to resources? 

ANSWER 7: A desktop computer will be provided for all staff, on-call laptop and phone 
will be provided for rotation among on-call staff. 

Question 8: Can a company prime and sub with another offeror? 

ANSWER 8: Yes they can. 

Question 9: What are the preferred sub opportunities categories? 

ANSWER 9: Although we cannot give you preferred subcontracting opportunities, the 
potential subcontracting opportunities are: Computer Analysis and Design; and 
Applications Software Programming Services. 

https://10,000,000.00


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 

 

Question 10: Would MDOT/MVA consider granting an extension to the February 18, 2019 due 
date of at least two weeks? 

ANSWER 10: See the response to question #5. 

Question 11: Are the 10 server and web-based applications listed on pages 3-5 of the TORFP 
the only ones to be supported by this seven person team during the five year term of this 
agreement? 

ANSWER 11: There are currently almost 200 applications at the MVA that will be 
supported by this team as well as other MVA staff and contractors. 

Question 12: If the scope or number of applications increases, will the vendor support 
headcount also increase proportionally? 

ANSWER 12: No, but the number of applications is expected to decrease. 

Question 13: What is the target start date for this engagement? 

ANSWER 13:  We anticipate awarding by Fall of 2019. 

Question 14: When will interviews with four key personnel be scheduled? 

ANSWER 14:  We anticipate interviews to be held Spring 2019. 

Question 15: 30% MBE goal x 7 resources = 2.1 resources.  Can MBE goal be changed to 
28%?  This would be the equivalent of 2 resources. 

ANSWER 15: No, the MBE goal cannot be changed. 

Question 16: Subcontracting goals.  8% African American, 7% Woman-owned, 2% Hispanic, 
1% VSBE.  8% = half of one resource.  Is it MDOT’s expectation that each of these 
subcontractor goals will be met by one Master contractor?  Can these subcontracting goals be 
eliminated? 

ANSWER 16: The subgoals cannot be eliminated.  The subgoals would be met by 
subcontractors meeting the individual category requirements. 



  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question 17: Page 13 refers to SLA Service Credits.  How often have these been issued in the 
past? 

ANSWER 17: This is the first time SLA credits are being used on this contract. 

Question 18: Can SLA Service Credits be eliminated from this TORFP?  With this being a 
Time and Materials Task Order, MVA manages the daily work product but the vendor assumes 
the risk.  This risk needs to be factored into our pricing. 

ANSWER 18: The SLA credits will not be eliminated from this TORFP as they are a 
measurement of the TO Contractor’s responsiveness. 

Question 19: What is the budget for this project? 

ANSWER 19: This information cannot be disclosed. 

Question 20: Who is the current incumbent? 

ANSWER 20: DK Consulting is the incumbent. 

Question 21: What is the previous award amount? 

ANSWER 21: The contract value is $6,650,384. 

Question 22: Are we required to submit a VBE, WOSB, African American and Hispanic MBE 
subcontractor, 4 in total, in order to meet the MBE goal? 

ANSWER 22: Yes.  The exception would be if an MBE prime fulfills the requirements for 
one of the subgoals. 

Question 23: What is the anticipated award timeframe? 

ANSWER 23: See the response to question #13. 

Question 24: What is the anticipated time for interviews to be held? 

ANSWER 24: See the response to question #14. 



 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

Question 25: Section 2.6.8 Service Level Measurements - For problems and issues that are not 
100% within the control of the contractor, how does MVA plan to apply SLA Credit percentage 
amounts? 

ANSWER 25: TO Contractor is expected to provide explanations for each occurrence not 
meeting SLA.  SLA credit will be waived if TO Manager determines TO Contractor not at 
fault. 

Question 26: Section 2.6.8 Service Level Measurements - In circumstances where the 
Contractor is not 100% in control of the result, will the MVA choose to waive (or not apply) an 
SLA Credit measurement? 

ANSWER 26: See response to question #18. 

Question 27: For the systems administration position the category states: 

Education: An Associate’s degree from an accredited college or university in Computer 
Science, Information Systems, Business or other related technical discipline.  A Bachelor’s 
Degree in one of the above disciplines equals one-year specialized and two (2) years general 
experience. An additional year of specialized experience may be substituted for the required 
education. 

Can we submit someone for key personnel who does NOT have any degree and substitute their 
experience for education? 

ANSWER 27: Please refer to sections 3.8.6 and 3.8.7 of the TORFP for substitutions of 
education and experience.  You may also refer to section 2.10 Labor Categories and 
Qualifications of the CATS+ RFP. 

Question 28: Section 2.6.8 Service Level Measurements - Is MVA able to share how often SLA 
Credit percentages have been applied for the incumbent Contractor in each of the Service 
Requirement categories? 

ANSWER 28: This is the first time SLA credits are being used on this contract. 

Question 29: Section 2.3.4, Item 2 (Invoicing) - Would it be acceptable to provide our monthly 
invoicing via electronic portal to meet the 10 day requirement? 

ANSWER 29: Invoices should be submitted per Section 3.3.2 of the TORFP. 



 
   

 

 

 

 
  

 

       
 

  

  

 

  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question 30: Based on TORFP Portal, current contract was expected to be completed in Dec 
2018 with contract value as $6.6M. During Pre-Proposal meeting, it was confirmed that it is 
extended till May 2019. Can we know final contract value? 

ANSWER 30: The current contract term is May 8, 2014 through May 7, 2019 for 
$6,650,384. We are in the process of extending the current contract until the new contract 
is in place (see response to question #13). 

Question 31: Section 5.4 – Volume I – TO Technical Proposal: it is not clear under which 
section we have to address requirements listed in section 3.8.2 – Offeror Preferred Experience. 

ANSWER 31:  We suggest you provide the information under section 5.4.2.F Minimum 
Qualifications Documentation.  

Question 32: On page 22 of TORFP: Section 3.6.4 - Cyber Security/Data Breach Insurance: In 
addition to the insurance specified in the CATS+ RFP Section 2.7, TO Contractor shall maintain 
Cyber Security / Data Breach Insurance for ten million dollars ($10,000,000) per occurrence.  
The coverage must be valid at all locations where work is performed or data or other information 
concerning State residents and employees is processed or stored.  This limit costs too much for a 
Small business concern. We would appreciate if some relaxation is given on this limit or this 
requirement is waived. 

ANSWER 32: The $10,000,000 Cyber Security requirement will remain. 

Question 33: If Prime is MBE certified from MDOT, does the 50% waiver apply to the whole 
MBE goal including sub-goals or is it applicable on any specific MBE status i.e. African-
American, Woman-owned or Hispanic? 

ANSWER 33: The waiver applies to any of the goals that the Prime is not able to satisfy. 

Question 34: There’s no provision on Appendix 6, as provided, for Key Personnel references.  
May we have permission to modify Appendix 6 to include these references?  That way, the 
entirety of a candidate’s information is in one place.  Alternatively, should we include Key 
Personnel references in the body of the Technical Proposal in Section 5.4.2 D? 

ANSWER 34: Please see Section I of Amendment #4.  

Date Issued: February 5, 2019 
By: Abby Alam, Procurement Officer 



MVA System Maintenance & Support - TORFP 
Solicitation #: J04B9400001 

CATS+ TORFP 
 

 
 

 

  

 
 

  
 

 
  

 

 
 

 

 

  
   

 
    

    

    

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 
 

  
    

   
  

APPENDIX 6A – LABOR CLASSIFICATION PERSONNEL RESUME SUMMARY 

CATS+ TORFP #J04B9400001 

Proposed Individual: Master Contractor: CATS+ Labor Category: 

Education: 
Insert the education 
description from the CATS+ 
RFP from Section 2.10 for 
the applicable labor 
category 

Institution/Address Degree or 
Certification 

Dates 

Generalized Experience: 
Insert the generalized 
experience description from 
the CATS+ RFP from 
Section 2.10 for the 
applicable labor category. 

Start End Company/Job 
Title 

Relevant Work Experience 

Specialized Experience: 
Insert the specialized 
experience description from 
the CATS+ RFP from 
Section 2.10 for the 
applicable labor category, 

TORFP Additional 
Requirements 
Minimum qualifications and 
required certifications as 
defined in Section 1 of this 
TORFP. 

Provide dates in the format 
of MM/YY to MM/YY 

References 
List persons the State may contact as employment references 

Reference Name Job Title or Position Organization Name Telephone / E-mail 

<add lines as needed> 

TORFP for Maryland Department of Transportation Motor Vehicle Administration  1 
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The information provided on this form for this labor category is true and correct to the best of my 
knowledge: 

TO Contractor Representative: Proposed Individual:  

Signature Signature 

Printed Name: Printed Name 

Date Date 

TORFP for Maryland Department of Transportation Motor Vehicle Administration  2 



 

 

 

  

  
 

 

  
 

 

                                             

 

CATS + TORFP J04B9400001 

 MVA System Maintenance and Support 

Amendment #5 Issued: February 8, 2019 

THIS AMENDMENT IS BEING ISSUED TO UPDATE AND 

CLARIFY CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE 

ABOVE-REFERENCED TORFP.  ALL INFORMATION 

CONTAINED HEREIN IS BINDING ON ALL WHO 

RESPOND TO THIS TORFP. 

For the following changes/additions, any new language has been underlined and marked in bold 
(i.e. new) and any deleted language has been marked with a strikeout (i.e., deleted). 

SECTION I 

1. Key Information Summary Sheet 

Delete in its entirety “MBE Subcontracting Goal 30% goal, with, sub-goals of 8% 
African-American, 7% Woman-owned and 2% Hispanic” issued with the solicitation 
Replace with: “MBE Subcontracting Goal 30% goal, with, sub-goals of 7% African-
American, 8% Woman-owned and 2% Hispanic”. (See attached Revised – Key 
Information Summary Sheet.) 

2. Pre-Proposal Meeting Agenda  

Delete in its entirety “30% MBE goal with sub-goals of 8% African-American, 7% 
Woman-owned and 2% Hispanic” issued with Amendment #2 Replace with: “30% 
MBE goal with sub-goals of 7% African-American, 8% Woman-owned and 2% 
Hispanic”. 

Date Issued: February 8, 2019 
By: Abby Alam, Procurement Officer 
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MARYLAND DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION MOTOR 
VEHICLE ADMINISTRATION (MVA) 

KEY INFORMATION SUMMARY SHEET 

Solicitation Title: System Maintenance and Support 

Solicitation Number: J04B9400001 

Functional Area: Functional Area 6 - Systems/Facilities Management and Maintenance 

TORFP Issue Date: Friday, January 11, 2019 

TORFP Issuing Office: Maryland Department of Transportation for the Motor Vehicle 
Administration (MDOT MVA or the “Agency”) 

Agency Location: MVA 

6601 Ritchie Highway, N.E., Glen Burnie, MD  21062 

TO Procurement Officer: 

e-mail: 
Office Phone: 

Abby Alam 

aalam2@mdot.state.md.us 

410-865-1387 

TO Manager: 

e-mail: 
Office Phone: 

Michelle Pytko 

One Orchard Road, Room 413, Glen Burnie, MD 21060 

mpytko@mdot.state.md.us 

(410) 768-7629 

TO Proposals are to be sent 
to: 

aalam2@mdot.state.md.us 

TO Pre-proposal Conference: 7201 Corporate Center Drive, Hanover MD 21076, 4th Floor Board 
Room 

Thursday, 1/24/2019 at 10:00 AM – 11:30 AM (EST) 

See Attachment A for directions and instructions. 

TO Proposals Due (Closing) 
Date and Time: 

Monday, 2/18/2019 at 2:00 PM (EST) 

Monday, 2/25/2019 at 2:00 PM (EST)–date change in Amendment #4 

Offerors are reminded that a completed Feedback Form is requested 
if a no-bid decision is made (see Section 5). 

MBE Subcontracting Goal: 30% goal, with sub-goals of 8% African-American, 7% Woman-
owned and 2% Hispanic 

30% goal, with sub-goals of 7% African-American, 8% Woman-
owned and 2% Hispanic 

VSBE Subcontracting Goal: 1% VSBE goal 

Task Order Type: Time and Materials 

Task Order Duration: Five (5) year base period - with no option periods, commencing from 
the Effective Date 

TORFP for Maryland Department of Transportation Motor Vehicle Administration  1 
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Primary Place of 
Performance: 

Maryland Motor Vehicle Administration 
6601 Ritchie Highway N.E. 
Glen Burnie, MD 21062 

SBR Designation: No 

Federal Funding: No 

Questions Due Date and Time Tuesday, 1/29/2019 at 2:00 PM (EST) 

TORFP for Maryland Department of Transportation Motor Vehicle Administration  2 
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